ADDRESSING GRADUATE STUDENT MENTAL HEALTH

by

OPAL ALBRECHT

B.S., University of Wisconsin-La Crosse, 2011

A REPORT

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Department of Special Education, Counseling, and Student Affairs

College of Education

KANSAS STATE UNIVERSITY Manhattan, Kansas

2014

Approved by:

Major Professor Dr. Christy Craft

Copyright

OPAL ALBRECHT

2014

Abstract

It is estimated that nearly twenty-five percent of graduate students experience symptoms of depression, anxiety, or seasonal affective disorder (Kernan, Bogart, & Wheat, 2011). Graduate students are defined as being unique, vulnerable, and at risk for experiencing a variety of challenges (Hyun, Quinn, Madon, & Lustig, 2006). Several of these challenges can result in high levels of stress (Oswalt & Riddock, 2007). Failing to cope with this stress can lead to increased stress levels, more severe mental health concerns or illness, and potentially dropping out (Hamaideh, 2011). Graduate students are not completing programs at the rate that they should, in fact attrition rates are estimated to be as high as fifty percent for some graduate programs (Kent, 2013). Understanding the effect mental health has on a student's ability to persist through a graduate program is crucial to understanding the graduate student experience. It is suggested that higher education institutions begin to acknowledge the stress graduate students endure, the transitional struggles they encounter, and the barriers graduate students overcome to seek help. Based on the literature and personal experience, it is proposed that higher education institutions focus on preventative measures when combating the mental health challenges graduate students experience. This report provides a summary of the best strategies to consider when focusing on graduate student mental health. These strategies include the creation of an office devoted to providing graduate students with the support services they deserve.

Table of Contents

Introduction	1
Trends in Higher Education	2
	3
Graduate Student Transition	6
Support in Transition	7
Theoretical Implications	9
Graduate Student Stress.	13
Contributors to Stress.	13
Effects of Stress.	14
Models and Theoretical Implications.	15
Mental Illness and Graduate Students	16
Prevalence of Mental Illness.	17
Contributors to Mental Illness	18
Effects of Mental Illness	19
Holistic Wellness	21
Academic Performance and Mental Health	22
Mental Health Stigma.	24
Needs of Graduate Students.	27
Implications and Recommendations.	30
Preventative Measures	30
Institutional Climate	31
Relationship Building	32
Positive Psychology	35
Self-Care	37
Graduate Student Support Services	39
Conclusion	44

Introduction to Graduate Student Mental Health

Between 1999 and 2010, the number of master's degrees conferred rose by fifty percent, while the number of doctoral degrees increased by thirty-four percent. In 2010, more than 850,000 graduate degrees were awarded. These numbers are projected to continue to rise (U.S. Department of Education, 2011) and are essential to keep in perspective when thinking about the future of higher education. As institutions continue to discover strategies to retain students, considering the graduate student population will be crucial to success. Golde (2005) found that forty percent of students who begin doctoral programs do not complete them. Another study found attrition rates of graduate students to be as high as fifty percent in some master's degree programs (Kent, 2013). Higher education professionals will be forced to consider the dynamic and diverse characteristics of graduate students, as well as the students' personal and academic struggles, when attempting to improve higher education institutions.

Before exploring graduate student mental health in detail, it is important to differentiate between the terminologies that will be used throughout this report. Mental health includes an individual's emotional, psychological, and social well-being (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, n.d). Mental health plays a fundamental role in a person's quality of life and their ability to handle stress, relate to others, and make choices. Mental health problems or struggles can cause an individual to have difficulty accomplishing the previously mentioned tasks. There are many factors contributing to a person's mental health including biological factors, life experiences, and family history (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, n.d). A mental disorder can be characterized as a health condition that affects an individual's mental health or ability to think, to behave, or manage his or her emotions (Barkin, n.d). Lastly, mental illness refers to all diagnosable mental disorders (Barkin, n.d). This report will begin by

identifying the prevalence of mental health issues and illness among the graduate student population.

One area within higher education that demands attention is graduate student mental health and its effect on the success of these students. Several studies have reported high levels of stress among graduate students (Hyun et al., 2006; Kernan et al., 2011; Lawson & Fuehrer, 2001). One study's findings suggested over fifty percent of graduate students considered seeking care for emotional problems during their graduate school tenure (Hyun et al., 2006). Kernan and colleagues (2011) found that twenty-five percent of graduate students experienced symptoms of depression, anxiety, or seasonal affective disorder. Failing to seek services for these illnesses and allowing for the stress levels to increase can result in more severe mental health concerns (Hamaideh, 2011). By examining graduate student mental health, professionals in higher education will discover the implications of inaccurate assumptions, difficult transitions, and stigma related to mental health on the graduate student population. Many colleges and universities across the country recognize the importance of supporting this population through the implementation of preventative strategies, initiatives, and programs. It would be wise for other colleges and universities to emulate these efforts to improve the graduate student experience in higher education.

Trends in Higher Education

Researchers claim that the number of students experiencing mental health issues, and the severity of those concerns, has increased (Hunt & Eisenberg, 2010; S.A. Benton, Benton, Newton, Benton, & Robertson, 2004). It is still uncertain whether there are actually more students who are developing mental illnesses or if students now have the capabilities of attending college while battling mental illnesses. One study indicated that there is an increase in the

number of students who are taking medication or undergoing treatment for a mental disorder than in the past (S.A. Benton et al., 2004). Silverman (2008) suggested that there are several interconnected reasons for the increase of mental illnesses on college campuses. Among the reasons are improved treatment, destigmatization of mental health, adjustment or transitional stress from a more diverse student population, limited access to off-campus services due to increases in health care costs, and the increase in turmoil and uncertainty across the country and world. After reviewing these likely reasons for the recent trends in mental illnesses among college students, it is easy to understand why these concerns are coming to the forefront of higher education.

In 2011, ninety-seven percent of the 228 counseling center directors who participated in an annual survey by Gallagher (2011) indicated that an average of ten students were hospitalized at each school due to psychological reasons. That is nearly two thousand students total, and this only includes data from the counseling centers that participated. This number has tripled since data collected in 1994 (Gallagher, 2011). Regardless of the reasoning as to why there appears to be more concerns about the increase in mental health issues among students, higher education institutions need to acknowledge this fact and begin to make progress in addressing the epidemic. One of the first steps in doing so is understanding the graduate student population and its unique characteristics.

Graduate Student Population

There are few articles that differentiate between the undergraduate and graduate student population, and there are even fewer articles that solely focus on graduate students. The literature has primarily been focused on issues concerning retaining and supporting undergraduate students (Hyun et al., 2006). Understanding the graduate student population is the first step in identifying

ways to better support these students. Graduate students have been characterized as a unique, vulnerable population at risk for experiencing a variety of challenges (Hyun et al., 2006; Kernan et al., 2011). When designing tools to assist a specific population of students, it is essential to understand the needs and characteristics of the students. Providing assistance for graduate students specific to their needs can be difficult, because it is a very diverse population.

Recent trends have shown that current graduate students are more representative of non-traditional students (Offerman, 2011). The United States Department of Education (n.d.) describe a non-traditional student as being over the age of 24, engaged in family and/or work life, a part-time student, or being financially independent. Non-traditional students have very specific needs and often balance multiple commitments and obligations. This is an important component to consider when evaluating graduate student mental health. Gilardi and Guglielmetti (2011) found that non-traditional students are more likely to stay enrolled if they use learning support services, have higher levels of social integration, and consider their learning to be meaningful.

Understanding the needs of this population will be crucial to the success of those interested in supporting graduate students in higher education. It is also suggested that professionals investigate the similarities between undergraduate and graduate students when trying to identify the needs of the graduate student population.

One of the most reoccurring messages within the literature was the vast difference in the research involving undergraduate students versus graduate students. Graduate students comprise about fifteen percent of all students admitted into degree-granting institutions within the country (American College Health Association, 2009). Even though that is a significant percentage, the graduate student population has been overlooked in the literature. Although this is the case, researchers reveal that graduate students are in need of similar support strategies that are offered

to undergraduate students (Hyun et al., 2006; Myers et al., 2012; Wyatt & Oswalt, 2013). It is suggested that many graduate students are just as confused and anxious entering into a graduate program as they were when they began their undergraduate experience (as cited in Poock, 2004). As this report progresses, it will become more clear that graduate students would be more successful with additional attention and support. One of the primary reasons in which graduate students need this support is because of the unique challenges they face.

As mentioned previously, graduate students have been considered an at-risk population. Eisenburg, Downs, Golberstein, and Zivin (2009) share that many college students are at an age in which symptoms of mental disorders are most likely to begin. This reality is a concern that needs to be considered in efforts to acknowledge mental health issues on a college campus. This, along with other graduate student characteristics, may help explain why forty percent of students who begin a doctoral program do not complete it. For comparison, attrition rates for the undergraduate population typically fluctuate between ten and twenty percent (Golde, 2005). The research suggests that graduate students feel that there are inaccurate assumptions about their ability to handle various situations. One of these assumptions is that graduate students are not in need of support or additional services, because they have already "mastered" the tools to succeed through college (Tokuno, 2008). Weiss Roberts and colleagues (2001) suggested that graduate students clearly feel that there is an expectation that they should be able to handle difficulties with minimal support. For graduate students, these perceptions, and sometimes realities, can become barriers for help-seeking behaviors, and mental health issues can escalate. Although graduate students may have had more experience with handling or overcoming mental health struggles, they still may need support. A study by Wyatt and Oswalt (2013) revealed that nearly seventeen percent of both undergraduate and graduate students experience symptoms of

depression. Given this information, it is detrimental for higher education professionals to let inaccurate assumptions affect their ability to support the graduate student population. A time in which these inaccurate assumptions are most damaging can be during a graduate student's transition.

Graduate Student Transition

Goodman, Schlossberg, and Anderson (2006) defined transition as an event that alters one's roles, routines, relationships, and assumptions. Transitioning to graduate school involves an alteration of all of these components; it can be a challenging, but exciting time in a student's life. Understanding the impact that the transition to graduate school can have on a graduate student is important to consider when identifying the next steps to make in improving the graduate student experience.

Several of the reasons a student decides to enroll in higher education as an undergraduate student may be similar to factors that contributed to the decision to enroll in a graduate program (Green, 2013). This reveals that perhaps graduate students will experience similar transitional issues as they did when they transitioned into their undergraduate careers. Tokuno (2008) discussed common challenges that students face within their first couple months of graduate school. These challenges appear to be similar to the ones that undergraduate students experience including the following: becoming acquainted with the campus and people, building relationships, finding an advisor, obtaining and maintaining finances, understanding the field, and becoming familiar with the language of the field (Tokuno, 2008). Graduate students, arguably more than undergraduate students, struggle to stay connected with friends and significant others who are not in the same location or in graduate school. This could be a contributing to factor to why meaningful and quality interactions are very important to graduate

students in transition, and in maintaining a positive mental health. Research has also revealed that finances and the quality of interactions are some of the main social challenges that graduate students encounter (Longfield, Romas, & Irwin, 2006). And when one considers all of the changing components of transition, it can be easily understood why graduate students are unable to manage time for social interactions. Simply being available and having enough time to engage in activities with others is difficult to balance (Longfield et al., 2006). Another aspect of a graduate student transition to consider is the feeling of self-worth.

The status changes that occur with this transition can also cause graduate students to under value their own self-worth, which certainly affects their mental health (Longfield et al., 2006). Several focus group participants in a study conducted by Longfield et al. (2006) shared that they felt their self-worth was compromised at times due to the obstacles guarding them from their goals. Many graduate students indicated that the simple status change increased their perception of their self-worth. The research shared in the above sections would also confirm that graduate students' experiences change often. At one point, there are feelings of accomplishments, and there are feelings of frustration at the next instance. This cycle is also referred to as an elation and depression cycle (Longfield et al., 2006). Understanding the differences and similarities between the undergraduate and graduate student populations in regards to transition is important in evaluating graduate students' ability to respond to transition, but also in providing support to them.

Support in Transition

Hall (1996) described the concept of "career resilience" and the ability to adapt to changing factors. Such resilience can be critical to an individual's success as he or she moves through a transition. This notion is also related to research by Schlossberg's (1981) research on

transition and the importance of an individual's support system and his or her set of psychological resources and regard to coping with transition. In the book entitled, "Graduate Students in Transition," advice from graduate students to individuals contemplating graduate school was provided. Some of the advice was to be academically prepared, to become familiar with resources, to confirm that the school and location is a good fit, to contact current students, to enroll at the right time, to be prepared financially, and to understand that personal time may be limited (Tokuno, 2008). This advice reiterates the importance of understanding one's self and also being aware of the support and benefits the institution provides. Supporting graduate students during what can be a difficult transition is essential to an institution's success.

There are a variety of ways in which higher education institutions can help to support graduate students during transition, and thus help to encourage a healthy mental state. In fact, Green (2013) shares that students' academic and environmental factors directly influence psychological outcomes, and therefore psychosocial development. To enhance this psychosocial development, as well, as academic and social integration, institutions need to provide additional support for students (Green, 2013). This support can begin providing a welcoming environment for graduate students. The most welcoming environments will alleviate stress and anxiety, resulting in a smoother transition (Poock & Love, 2001). For the graduate students experiencing identity confusion, due to the multitude of changes, it is recommended that institutions prioritize providing role models for students. Tokuno (2008) also emphasizes that graduate students excel with opportunities to learn and grow, as do most students. The importance of social interaction and role model influence was featured in several articles. Lawson and Fuehrer (2001) shared that graduate students who had more interaction with faculty seemed to have a higher satisfaction with the graduate school experience. These researchers specifically studied the effect of faculty

members' social support in helping with the transition of first-year graduate students. There are several student development theories that can be easily related to these forms of support and the psychological development of students including: Schlossberg's transition theory (1981), Schlossberg's mattering and marginality theory (1989), Sanford's theory of challenge and support (1966), Erikson's identity development theory (1959), Chickering and Reisser's seven vectors (1993), and Holland's person-environment theory (1997).

Theoretical Implications

Understanding theory and the process of implementing theory to practice can be a pivotal component of supporting students through transition. Schlossberg's theory of transition describes three states of moving in, moving through, and throughout transition over the course of a student's tenure at an institution (Schlossberg, 1981). The theory highlights the importance of each individual person and each transition experience; the outcome is highly determined upon these two factors. There are four different components that help professionals understand how a person may cope with transition: situation, self, support, and strategies. A student's psychological resources certainly can affect an individual's transition in positive and challenging ways (Evans, Forney, Guido, Patton, and Renn, 2010). And the way in which a student is supported or the strategies used to help a student cope will affect how a student responds to a transition, and potentially plays a role in the mental state of the student. This theory can help professionals become more familiar with some of the transitional issues a student may encounter. For graduate students, these issues are very much a reality, and the support and strategies are important for student affairs administrators to consider.

Schlossberg has also introduced the theory of marginality and mattering to the field of student development. Schlossberg (1989) explained that feelings of marginality often occur when

individuals transition into new, unfamiliar roles. Marginality, or not fitting in, can sometimes lead to negative feelings of self-worth, irritability, or mental illness (Schlossberg, 1989). To combat feelings of marginality, students need to feel as if they matter. This can be exhibited in several forms: attention, importance, ego-extension, dependence, and appreciation. Polson (2003) suggested that institutions implement graduate student recognition programs to help students feel mattered. This could also help students feel supported, which is directly related to a theory established by Sanford (1966).

As mentioned previously, social support is very important to the success of graduate students. With that said, graduate students desire the opportunity to learn, to grow, and to be challenged. Sanford (1966) developed a theory that discussed the importance of challenge and support in the development of adults. He indicated that in order for proper development to occur, readiness, support, and challenge need to be present (Sanford, 1966). Lawson and Fuehrer (2001) suggested that institutions worry less about decreasing the demands of the program, or in other words decreasing the difficulty or challenge, and instead focus on increasing support. This is directly linked to Sanford's theory of challenge and support. Sanford (1966) stated that the amount of challenge a student can tolerate is a function of the amount of support available. If the challenge outweighs the support, this can lead to more stress and students dropping out of college. By incorporating some of the strategies mentioned above and the ones that are to be mentioned within this report, institutions could potentially increase student satisfaction, and retention. It is also advised that higher education professionals investigate the research conducted by Erikson (1959).

Many graduate students find themselves asking questions such as "Who am I?" or "What do I want to become?" These are typical questions asked by someone going through a

developmental change. Tokuno (2008) suggested that many graduate students find themselves encountering an "identity crisis," a stage within Erikson's (1959) stages of life span development. Erikson's stages are determined by a psychological crisis or "turning point". In order to handle these "turning points," an individual must balance his or her internal self with the external environment. Coping with this challenge will allow individuals to properly handle developmental changes later in life (Erikson, 1959). Stage five of the theory discusses an individual's desire to establish his or her values, beliefs, and goals (Erikson, 1959). For many graduate students, exploring these options may create psychological dissonance and difficulty in successfully progressing through a graduate program. Higher education professionals can play a significant role in ensuring positive identity development within graduate students by supporting them through this exploration process. Chickering and Reisser (1993) also shared important concepts to consider when evaluating the development of students.

Chickering and Reisser's (1993) seven vectors can easily be related to the graduate student experience. Throughout graduate school, students are attempting to develop competency, to manage emotions, to build relationships, to establish an identity, and to live with purpose and integrity (Tokuno, 2008). Chickering and Reisser's (1993) seven vectors serve as a resource to understand psychosocial development during college. Graduate students experiencing mental health symptoms certainly need to develop mechanisms to help them cope with their emotions while traveling through these vectors. And some graduate students might be experiencing these vectors at the same time. For example, a graduate student who is asking the "Who am I question?" while balancing the professional demands of an assistantship and exploring his or her values would be experiencing three of the seven vectors. To help students progress through these vectors, institutions could evaluate institutional size, prioritize student and faculty relationships,

explore curricula that acknowledge difference and that promote learning, and lastly, encourage the development of student communities and support groups (Chickering & Reisser, 1993). They should also encourage students to consider the fit between themselves and an institution.

Hyun and colleagues (2006) shared that Holland's theory of careers (1997) can provide some insight into graduate student health and transition. The theory suggests that each individual choose environments that match his or her personality, and that environments reinforce and reward abilities and interests. People will succeed in environments that are congruent with personality types. Therefore, understanding the "fit" between institutions and students can significantly contribute to the mental health of students (Holland, 1997). As higher education institutions, this notion may not be the most accepted, because one of the goals of an institution is collect as much revenue as possible or in other words enroll as many students as possible. In reality, the best way to serve students is to encourage prospective students to explore the "fit" between themselves and the institution. If an institution cannot provide the support it needs for a student, perhaps that institution is not the best place for that individual. If the "fit" is not genuine, it can also lead to increases in dropout rates.

Graduate student transition can significantly impact the mental health and overall well-being of graduate students. It is a crucial component to the future success of graduate students. Understanding the graduate student transition experience and the theory behind the development that occurs during transition is essential to implementing the best support strategies for this population. Often this transition, in addition to the other roles and commitments of a graduate student, can lead to significant stress levels. Identifying the effect stress has on graduate students is also an important concept to understand when examining graduate student mental health.

Graduate Student Stress

Graduate students often experience high levels of stress due to the varying roles and responsibilities they acquire while in a graduate program (Hyun et al., 2006; Kernan et al., 2010; Lawson & Fuehrer, 2001). In a study conducted by Hyun and colleagues (2006) half of the graduate student participants indicated having an emotional or stress-related problem over the prior year. And, over half of the students indicated that they knew a colleague who had experienced an emotional or stress-related problem over the previous year. Moreover, nearly forty percent of students reported feeling exhausted "frequently" or "all the time." Wyatt and Oswalt (2013) found that graduate students experience more tremendous and consistent stress, while undergraduate students report experiencing a single traumatic situation. Higher education professionals need to understand the reality of stress in a graduate student's life, and should be able to help graduate students learn how to properly balance the stress with support before the stress escalates into a more severe mental illness. In order to do so, one must understand the contributors to stress and the effect stress has on students. It is recommended that student affairs professionals begin to consider preventative strategies in order to decrease graduate students' stress levels.

Contributors to Stress

In a study conducted by Lawson and Fuehrer (2001), twenty graduate students were interviewed during their second semester of graduate school. Students were asked open ended questions related to stress, and their answers often included a diverse array of stressors. Many of the challenges that graduate students face can result in high levels of stress. This stress can stem from obstacles regarding academics, finances, assistantships, work overload, balancing multiple roles, career planning, being in a relationship, and family issues (Hyun et al., 2006; Mazzola,

Jackson, Shockley, & Spector, 2011; Oswalt & Riddock, 2007). As one can see, several of these stressors involve individuals other than the student. Graduate students often have additional responsibilities and people in their lives that affect their decision making and ability to successfully complete a graduate program. Hamaideh (2011) suggested even more sources of stress for graduate students including being away from home, transitioning into a new stage of life, experiencing pressure from peers, living with expectations, being frustrated with achievement levels, and having difficulty coping with a new social environment. Understanding the effect that all of these stressors can have on an individual's mental state is crucial in accurately understanding the graduate student experience.

Effects of Stress

Some amount of stress can actually be helpful for students. Dahlin, Joneborg, and Runeson (2005) explained that it is prolonged stress that can be harmful to students' academics and their general health. Students with very high levels of stress can often become depressed, have mental distress, and may experience burnout. Everyone has experienced stress before, whether through personal struggles, professional encounters, or academic experiences.

Understanding the effects of extreme stress is important for higher education professionals, because such extreme stress can also affect attrition rates

Golde (2005) suggested that stressors such as being academically underprepared, being mismatched with an advisor, or feeling isolated are primary reasons why doctoral students drop out of graduate school. Other researchers also found similar results with their research, especially if students' mental health concerns escalated into mental illness or more severe symptoms (Hyun et al., 2006). If stress is not addressed or students are not comfortable with coping or handling stress, their health may be jeopardized. According to Hamaideh (2011) high levels of stress can

motivate and accelerate substance abuse, smoking, and other negative health habits. Ultimately, if students encounter obstacles and are unable to handle the stress that accompanies it, they may begin to evaluate and reassess their decision to pursue graduate education (Golde, 2005). Through this assessment, students may realize their satisfaction with a program or an institution. Lawson and Fuehrer (2001) found that graduate students in their study were satisfied with graduate school even while experiencing high levels of stress. The key, however, was that they also had high levels of support. Again, some stress can be beneficial in graduate school, as long as ample support is used as a buffer.

Models and Theoretical Implications

Taking time to understand models and theories that can help in the creation and implementation of preventative strategies should be a priority among higher education professionals. As previously stated, researchers suggest that stress can be a beneficial motivator for graduate students (Lawson & Fuehrer, 2001). Utilizing strategies that acknowledge the support needed during and after stress occurs is important. Understanding the importance of being proactive in teaching strategies to help students appropriately respond and cope with stress can be even more beneficial. The Transactional Model of Stress (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984), as well as a few other theories, may be helpful in the development of these resources.

The Transactional Model of Stress brings understanding to the process of an individual encountering a stressor (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). First, an individual will encounter a potentially stressful situation. Upon evaluation of this incident, an individual will decide whether the situation is stressful or not. After making this decision, a person examines his or her coping resources and options. Lastly, an individual reacts to the stressor using adaptive coping strategies with the goal of obtaining balance (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). Adaptive coping strategies will

be discussed in more detail in the conclusion of this report. One finding worth sharing is that the students who have a positive perception of him or herself are more likely to have adaptive coping strategies and an internal locus of control. In one study, these students believed that they experienced fewer stressors or were able to handle more of the stressors (Hamaideh, 2011). Professionals need to understand that a person has the ability and makes a conscious decision of how to react to a stressor. If a student is experiencing additional mental health problems, this ability may be hindered. Regardless, acknowledging the power and ability within each person can be a crucial step in coping with stress. Hyun and fellow researchers (2006) suggested that students should pay attention to the "fit" between themselves and the institution in which they are interested, because this could certainly affect the amount of stress that she or he experiences or his or her ability to handle the stress. Identifying this "fit" can be directly related to Holland's theory of careers.

Like previously stated, acknowledging the stress graduate students face is crucial in improving the graduate student experience, especially because of the stress escalates it can lead to heightened stress levels or mental illness. These theories help to provide a framework for understanding how to better support graduate students. There are also several graduate students struggling with mental illness in addition to these high levels of stress, and this combination can create for a very difficult graduate school experience. Identifying the effect mental illness has on graduate students is an important factor in learning how to enhance the graduate student experience.

Mental Illness and Graduate Students

Indeed, graduate students are a vulnerable, at-risk population due to their age, the number of commitments and roles they balance, and the rigor and expectations of graduate programs. All

of these characteristics, among others, can lead to significant stress levels. If students are unable to cope or to handle the stress associated with graduate education, the stress can escalate into mental health struggles. There are also several graduate students that experience mental illness, or at least symptoms of mental health disorders. Several researchers share that stress and symptoms of depression and anxiety specifically are common occurrences among the graduate student population (Hyun et al., 2006; Kernan, et al., 2010; Schulte, Mongrain, & Flora, 2008; Wyatt & Oswalt, 2013). It would be advantageous for student affairs professionals to pay attention to the prevalence of mental health concerns among graduate students. In addition to understanding the extent to which this is a problem, it is also important to consider the contributors to mental health concerns, as well as the effects of mental illness on the graduate student population.

Prevalence

There are some discrepancies in the literature about the percentage of graduate students who experience mental illness. This is an area of the research that could certainly be expanded. Another improvement that could be made among the literature is to differentiate between mental health disorders and symptoms of mental health disorders. With that said, there is literature addressing the prevalence of mental health concerns among graduate students, and it is worth the attention of higher education professionals.

According to studies by Eisenburg, Golberstein, and Gollust (2007) and Wyatt and Oswalt (2013), thirteen percent of graduate students are affected by depression or anxiety. One study revealed that over forty percent of the respondents indicated that they had mental or emotional difficulties within the previous month (Eisenburg et al., 2007). This resembles results of a study conducted by Weiss Roberts and fellow researchers (2001) in which twenty-six

percent of the graduate students indicated stress concerns, twenty-one percent mentioned struggles with anxiety, and eighteen percent reported symptoms of depression. It is estimated that nearly thirty percent of graduate students utilize some form of mental health services in graduate school (Hyun et al., 2006). This number is astounding, but it is reassuring to know that services are offered and utilized. In addition to research on the graduate student population as a whole, there is also literature regarding specific graduate student populations, specifically medical students.

It is estimated that as many as seventy-two percent of medical students suffer from abuse by their superiors, which could be a partial explanation as to why many medical students experience depressive and anxiety symptoms, as well as substance abuse (as cited in Weiss Roberts et al., 2001). Medical students often have increased pressure and expectations from instructors and field supervisors. This can cause heightened levels of stress, which can lead to severe mental health concerns. Weiss Roberts and colleagues (2001) suggested that as many as one quarter of medical students in the United States experience symptoms of mental illness. Although this report does not specifically highlight the experiences of medical students, this population is one that deserves more support and attention. Regardless of the field, there are significant consequences to these mental health concerns and illnesses. In order to address the problem, one must understand what is contributing to the problem.

Contributors to Mental Illness

An obvious contributor to some of these mental health symptoms and illnesses that graduate students endure is stress. And sometimes this stress can result in students having lower self-esteem and confidence (Longfield et al., 2006). Low self-esteem and confidence can contribute to increases in mental health concerns among students. Other research indicates that

financial hardship can be directly related to the onset of depression. Over twenty percent of students who participated in a study by Andrews and Wilding (2004) reported experiencing a major financial crisis and/or have gone without food or travel due to their financial situation. This is an extremely important piece of knowledge when considering the mental health of graduate students. The non-traditional graduate student population is an especially important population to consider, because they may also be balancing family commitments and providing for dependents. Alexander (2005) found that the primary producers of anxiety for graduate students are academic demands, balancing work and school, and balancing finances. As one can see, there are similarities among some of the stressors that contribute the most to the onset of anxiety or increase in symptoms of mental health disorders. It is also important to understand that there is not a known cause to the onset of an actual mental health disorder, but that certain experiences can cause a student to begin feeling symptoms again or cause the mental health disorder to become more of a concern and obstacle for a student. The effects of mental health disorders and symptoms of disorders have had a significant impact on college campuses. Unfortunately, many institutions have failed to recognize this direct impact.

Effects of Mental Illness

In an article published in *The Chronicle of Higher Education* in 2008, there was mention of fourteen campus shootings that occurred over the previous twenty years. Of the fourteen cases, eight involved a current or former graduate student or non-traditional undergraduate student (Fox, 2008). In 1991, a doctoral candidate went on a shooting rampage at the University of Iowa shortly after receiving news that he had not been chosen as a recipient for an academic award. It was not too long ago when a former Northern Illinois University graduate student murdered five students and injured twenty-one people before committing suicide (Fox, 2008).

And lastly in 2012, James Holmes, a graduate student at the University of Colorado, took fire at a movie theater in Aurora, Colorado. Holmes was in the process of voluntarily withdrawing from the neurosciences graduate program (University of Colorado, 2012). It has been reported that several of the individuals involved in such campus shootings were suffering from various mental disorders (Fox, 2008).

One of the most tragic realities of higher education today is the prevalence of suicide among college students. Silverman (2008) shared recent trends in suicidal behavior. Between 1990 and 2003, suicidal ideation, plans of suicide, and suicidal attempts all increased. Suicide is the second leading cause of death among college students. In fact, more teenagers and young adults die from suicide than from all other medical illnesses combined. Silverman (2008) estimated that 1,350 students die by suicide each year. In other words, three students a day take their own lives in the United States. Graduate students account for thirty-two percent of campus suicides (Silverman, Meyer, Sloane, Raffel, & Pratt, 1997). That is a significant percentage for a population that has not seemed to receive enough attention. It is estimated that of the students who commit suicide, only twenty percent had been seen by a counseling professional (Silverman, 2008). These statistics reiterate the fact that students are not comfortable seeking help; a problem that needs to be addressed. Only fourteen percent of students reported receiving suicide prevention information from their college (Silverman, 2008). When thinking about the various beliefs related to suicide, it is understandable to believe that some people are more comfortable and willing to address this epidemic than others. Regardless of people's opinions regarding suicide, there is an undeniable fact that students are killing themselves and with the support and courage of higher education professionals, lives might be saved.

Think about a student experiencing suicidal ideation, depression, anxiety, or just high levels of stress. Now, think about this student also attending school full-time, being a parent, and working twenty hours a week as a teaching assistant. There is no denying that this student's academics will be jeopardized at the expense of the other factors affecting his or her academic performance. In fact, additional effects of mental illness do include increased dropout rates (Hyun et al., 2006; Kessler et al., 1995). Understanding the importance of holistic wellness and the effect that mental health issues have on all areas of a student's life and development is essential to supporting the graduate student population.

Holistic Wellness

Mental health can be affected by several internal and external factors in an individual's life. Research has indicated that institutions that adhere to a holistic wellness model see more positive psychological well-being among their students (Hermon & Hazler, 1999). Like previously stated, graduate students balance several roles and commitments, and many of these are interconnected. Some areas of graduate students' lives receive more attention than others. All of these areas of a graduate student's life contribute to his or her overall feeling of self-worth (Longfield et al., 2006). There are certain areas of a student's life that do not receive as much attention as they should to ensure the most positive outcome. Many students indicate that they have limited time for socializing and physical activity (Longfield et al., 2006). Green (2013) touched on the focus of this section, which is the connection between academic and environmental factors and psychological outcomes. There is a direct link between these variables with psychosocial development. Mental health has continuously played a role in students' academic performance. Understanding the prevalence of this issue and what to do to help relieve the effects is an important consideration for higher education professionals.

Academic Performance and Mental Health

Research has shown that poor health, specifically mental health, can affect a student's academic performance (Andrews & Wilding, 2004; Ruthig, Marrone, Hladkyj, and Robinson-Epp, 2011). Although it is unclear if students who struggle with mental health drop out of college due to difficulties related to academics, there is a link between those who have mental disorders and student attrition. Kessler, Foster, Saunders, and Stang (1995) found that individuals with psychiatric disorders account for nearly five percent of college drop outs. If mental health problems go untreated, there is even more risk of a graduate student dropping out, in fact this is a significant contributor to graduate student attrition (Hyun et al., 2006).

Among the students who indicated struggling with depression, anxiety, and/or seasonal affective disorder, over forty percent of them reported that this mental health illness negatively impacted their academic performance. Of the seventy-five percent whom reported feeling stressed over the previous year, over a quarter of these students indicated a negative correlation with learning (Kernan et al., 2011). The results of this study reflected those of previous graduate student studies, with regard to the link between mental health issues and learning (Hyun et al., 2006; Schulte et al., 2008; Wyatt & Oswalt, 2013). For graduate students, the effect mental health has on academic performance and progress can be especially detrimental to the completion of graduation requirements outside of the classroom, such as submitting a report, portfolio, or thesis. Graduate students indicated that mental health issues disrupt progress on a thesis, dissertation, and research writing. They also express that these struggles interrupt practicum work expectations (Wyatt & Oswalt, 2013). The completion or progress in these areas can also affect a student's self-esteem and/or perception of self-worth. If a graduate student has a positive sense of self-worth, he or she is more likely to succeed academically (Crocker,

Sommers, & Luhtanen, 2002). Depression and its effect on graduate student academic performance is a topic that has been specifically researched.

Depression has surfaced in research regarding graduate student mental health consistently. Andrews and Wilding (2004) shared that depression significantly affects exam performance. In fact, students who are diagnosed with depression or anxiety have lower scores on exams compared to those that are not clinically depressed or anxious (Wyatt & Oswalt, 2013). Higher levels of distress are also related to increased test anxiety, lower academic self-efficacy, less effective time management, and limited use of study resources (Wyatt & Oswalt, 2013). The research also revealed that co-occurring depression and anxiety have a positive correlation with lower grade point average (Eisenberg, Golberstein, & Hunt, 2009).

There are also more severe psychological issues with which graduate students are struggling. In 2011, counseling center directors across the country reported that nearly thirty-seven percent of their clients were struggling with more severe psychological problems. Of that thirty-seven percent, six percent had such severe mental health impairments that they ended up withdrawing from the university or college (Gallagher, 2011). All of this research reiterates the importance of understanding the correlation between mental illness and academic performance.

There is a clear link between mental health and graduate student academic performance. There is also research to support the importance of holistic wellness with regard to persisting through graduate school. Many areas of a graduate student's life are jeopardized due to the intense demands of graduate programs. This can be very problematic, especially when mental health issues surface and become interconnected with other expectations and responsibilities. Student affairs professionals should focus on strategies that support holistic wellness and value the links between the various roles and aspects of a student's life. Unfortunately, even with

increased strategies, a strong barrier will remain-stigma of mental health. In order to create more inclusive and safe college environments, higher education professionals and students need to work to de-stigmatize mental health.

Mental Health Stigma

Public stigma can be defined as negative stereotypes or assumptions that are held by society or a large community (Corrigan, 2004). This stigma is a help-seeking barrier for individuals struggling with mental health issues. An example of the effect stigma has on society is the fear that surfaces when interacting with a person who has a mental health disorder. There is a stereotype that individuals who struggle with a mental illness are dangerous. This unfortunate bias is reiterated by American culture and media, which results in a damaging stigma. This stigma can cause people to feel as if they are inadequate if they struggle with mental health issues. It also leads to members of this society being less willing to seek help for such disorders. If individuals do not seek help, perhaps because of the stigma, illnesses can become severe and potentially cause an individual to react in an inappropriate manner. If society was more encouraging and supportive of individuals with mental health issues, perhaps there would be fewer unfortunate instances that result in violence or self-harm. Several researchers have examined the effect of stigma on help-seeking behaviors, and there is no doubt that this is an area of improvement for higher education.

Eisenburg and colleagues (2009) studied the effects of public and personal stigma among college students. One of the most interesting findings was that it was extremely common for students to report experiencing high levels of perceived public stigma and low levels of personal stigma. However, nearly no one reported the opposite of experiencing high levels of personal stigma with low levels of public stigma. If students did have high levels of personal stigma,

which was also associated with perceived high levels of public stigma, they were less likely to demonstrate help-seeking behaviors. These results indicate that societal influence is more important than what an individual believes about mental health and seeking help. This dissonance is a tragic realization for higher education professionals, because it reflects the dire need to change college campus culture regarding mental health. This can be an overwhelming and daunting task, but well worth the students who will succeed and persist because of it. According to a study by Hyun and fellow researchers (2006) only half of students consider seeking help for mental health concerns. There are several health concerns, many of which are related to mental health, that are stigmatized and therefore create barriers in seeking help and communicating with professionals (Weiss Roberts et al., 2001). One of the most interesting and powerful findings in the research is that medical graduate students, and it could be argued all graduate students, would feel that their academic status would be jeopardized if they shared the health struggles they experience. This specifically would be a challenge if it was related to substance abuse or other mental health illnesses, such as depression or anxiety (Weiss Roberts et al., 2001). Stigma affects individuals' perceptions of what an individual with a mental health illness experiences. Individuals who develop and struggle with mental health should not automatically be considered inept, dangerous, or incompetent. Placing this stigma and shame on those with mental illness will only continue to negatively affect society.

Another focus within the research is the differing ways that stigma affects men versus women. In addition to researching mental health concerns in general, institutions need to begin to investigate the links between male identity development and help-seeking for mental health issues. Some professionals would argue that stigma affects men more than women (Eisenburg et al., 2009; Mojtabai, 2007). Interestingly, women may be twenty percent more likely to utilize

mental health services than men (Hyun et al., 2006). There are several reasons as to why this may be occurring on college campuses. It is possible that the stigma affects men more, because society does not encourage the emotional development of men. There is a bias towards the male gender that affects their ability to show emotion, cope with emotion, and share their emotions. These are obvious obstacles to seeking help for mental health concerns. Another reason could be that resources are aimed and marketed towards women. More than eighty percent of female participants in a recent study indicated they were aware of counseling services, but only sixtyseven percent of men were aware of the same services (Hyun et al., 2006). Perhaps these resources are not shared with the male population as openly, or the male population is uncomfortable with becoming familiar with these resources because of the stigma associated with mental health. One suggestion for combating this problem is to empower male role models on campus to reach out to the male population and to shatter the stereotype that men are not supposed to have emotions or to seek help. Another option would be to implement a support group for men that could include the involvement of prominent professionals across campus; this could be especially helpful for male graduate students. Graduate students may relate more with professionals than undergraduate students because of the stage of life they are in, as well as the roles in which they are balancing.

Researchers provide a few suggestions for destignatizing mental health. Students need to be aware of the fact that ninety percent of students report that they would not think less of somebody for seeking mental health treatment (Eisenburg et al., 2009). Students still and will continue to care more about the perception of their peers than what they think themselves. This is a struggle and barrier for higher education professionals in many regards. In order to destignatize mental health, students need to be involved with the process. Active Minds, a

nationally recognized non-profit organization, is devoted to establishing college chapters to begin the conversation about mental health issues. This organization uses the student voice to raise awareness. Another suggestion from Eisenburg and colleagues (2009) is to utilize internet-based programs to reach students, to provide support, and to educate the campus community about mental health. This can be helpful for graduate students who have a very busy schedule. Identifying the best ways to connect with students is essential in destignatizing mental health.

Although it can be argued that mental health stigma has decreased within society and among college campuses, there is no denying that it continues to affect both undergraduate and graduate students. Stigma has an effect on students' help-seeking behaviors and results in students failing to utilize mental health resources. Unfortunately, men are affected by stigma more than women, but both populations are negatively affected. To help in relieving the issue, it is important to use the student voice to create a culture that is supportive of those struggling with mental health issues or illness and do so in a way that is engaging and interesting to the student population. In all, decreasing the stigma associated with mental health could result in more students receiving the help they need, and therefore fewer mental health crises on college campuses. Another way to combat this stigma is to have a better understanding of graduate student needs.

Needs of Graduate Students

This report has provided readers with relevant concerns among the graduate student population, specifically ones relating to mental health issues. Graduate students have and will continue to embark on a difficult, but exciting journey in the hopes of obtaining a master's or doctoral degree. Before reaching that destination, many graduate students strive to balance many roles and responsibilities. Higher education professionals need to understand the needs of this

population and provide support in a way that emulates that of undergraduate students. Several professionals have researched the needs of graduate students in hopes of improving the graduate student experience.

Graduate students are eager to learn, grow, and develop as professionals. One study revealed that graduate students desire a strong community of learners and crave critical dialogue (Conrad, Duren, and Haworth, 1998). A community of learners is described as an environment in which peers and faculty are "co-learners" working and learning together. These two elements allow for a more comprehensive and enriching learning experience. Conrad et al. (1998) found that these students valued their experience and relationships more. Providing this structure and environment for graduate students could help with the overall health and well-being of students. It could provide students with the support from peers and faculty that they feel they need in order to be successful.

Rimmer, Lammert, and McClain (1982) administered a questionnaire asking master's students to identify their needs at their perspective institutions. The results revealed master's students' greatest perceived needs, as the following: departmental workshops on planning and professional development, a central location for information regarding events or socials, departmental orientation programs, and a master's student newsletter. All of these items are consistent with the message that graduate students seek to be informed and involved in similar ways as their undergraduate peers. Establishing and integrating oneself into the campus culture can be a challenge for graduate students. By utilizing some of these resources, graduate students may feel more connected to campus.

Another identified need of graduate students is for faculty and staff to understand their demands. While in the classroom or at work, students may appear to be successfully

maneuvering through graduate school. It can be very beneficial for graduate program faculty and staff to be aware of the challenges this student population may face. Understanding important questions to ask and what to look for, especially in regards to graduate student mental health, can be very impactful. It is suggested that professionals provide similar support to graduate students, as undergraduate students, as they may experience similar mental health struggles and transitional struggles (Wyatt & Oswalt, 2013).

In a study conducted by Oswalt and Riddock (2007) graduate students reported coping strategies used to handle stress. Among these strategies were "vegging out," using alcohol or smoking cigarettes, taking prescription medication, and participating in yoga. Many of these behaviors are not the most effective or healthy methods of coping, and the graduate students in this study agreed that learning more about healthy coping strategies would be helpful.

One of the primary findings one will discover when researching graduate student attrition is the importance of a graduate student's advisor, especially for those graduate students pursuing a degree with a dissertation requirement. Researchers (as cited in Boyle & Boice, 1998) explained that students who do not finish their dissertation often have poor working relationships with their advisors or committee. This is one of the two primary reasons for terminating graduate education; the other is for financial reasons. Graduate students have a desire and need to feel connected and supported by their advisors. This relationship can be the key to a graduate student's success, and therefore, should be prioritized more. This can become problematic if faculty and staff's responsibility and workload continue to increase. Unfortunately, this could result in less time being devoted to working with graduate students and building strong relationships with these students.

These are only a few of the many needs of graduate students. Several have been discussed throughout this report. Although it is important to understand what graduate students desire in order to be successful, the most important aspect is identifying how these needs will be fulfilled. Based on the literature reviewed above, strategies and recommendations will be provided with the hope that graduate students will be more supported in years to come.

Implications and Recommendations

This report clearly depicts some of the experiences that graduate students are facing today. Unfortunately, many of these experiences are causing graduate students more stress than perhaps they need. This could be for several reasons. A few that have been addressed are graduate students' inability to cope with stress, and higher education institutions' lack of graduate student support services. It can be argued that if both of these factors were improved, graduate student mental health would also improve.

Preventative Measures

One of the first suggestions is to focus on preventative measures and enhancing graduate students' coping strategies. Promoting strategies that emulate positive psychology is a step in achieving this goal. By incorporating aspects of positive psychology into the solution, students may experience emotional wellness, vitality, and meaningfulness (Chickering, Dalton, & Stamm, 2005). This could ultimately lead to improvements in graduate student self-care, another priority if the graduate student experience is going to be enhanced. Throughout this report, inferences have been made to the importance of an advisor and faculty relationship, as well as to the crucial role played by peer relationships. These mentoring relationships will be discussed, as they are a fundamental aspect of the graduate student experience. Another important factor in understanding graduate mental health is becoming familiar with the institutional and department

culture and environment. It is important to assess whether the environment is welcoming and supportive, and not just challenging, in order to assist the graduate student population. All of these efforts have the potential to create a new and improved graduate student experience.

In order for colleges and universities to support graduate students, professionals need to begin being proactive instead of reactive. The same could be said for graduate students. Graduate students need to make improvements in the way they prepare for graduate school. One way to start being proactive is to identify the strategies that are effective in helping graduate students. Poock (2004) suggested creating evaluations for current practices and making decisions based on those and testimonies. Institutions need to consider the new needs of nontraditional students, and to offer both institution and department resources for graduate students. Kernan et al. (2011) also prioritized proactive strategies, especially when involving graduate student health concerns. By being proactive and evaluating current trends and strategies, institutions should be able to improve in the following four areas: institutional environment, relationship building, positive psychology practices, and promoting graduate student self-care.

Institutional Climate

One of the first influences on students is the campus climate, which is why creating an ideal environment for students should be an institutional priority. Longfield and colleagues (2006) suggested that creating a comfortable and stable environment for graduate students could decrease the effects of the elation and depression cycle. Higher education professionals should be as genuine and consistent in the way they treat a graduate student before she or he arrives to campus as they do a graduate student that is graduating from a program. This consistency, as stated above, could be very beneficial for a graduate student.

Poock and Love (2001) indicated that a welcoming environment can alleviate stress and anxiety, therefore allowing for a smoother transition for graduate students. This welcoming environment should be reflected within individual departments as well. The academic and social environment of a department or institution can have a significant impact on the graduate student experience. The results of a study by Hyun et al. (2006) emphasized the value of social support and the relationship a graduate student has with his or her advisor, and how that influences the department culture and environment. Graduate students are known to be more disconnected from campus compared to other student populations. This can obviously negatively affect their mental health and stress levels (Wyatt & Oswalt, 2013). Understanding why graduate students feel disconnected from the campus is an essential piece when hoping to improve the graduate student experience. Pondering the effects of a welcoming environment on the feeling of disconnectedness would be a suggestion for future research in this area. One piece, touched upon earlier, that could potentially positively affect the perception of the institutional or departmental environment is a graduate student's ability to build relationships with his or her advisor, faculty, or peers.

Relationship Building

After synthesizing the existing research, Boyle and Boice (1998) suggested strategies to help increase graduate student success. The strategies mentioned were to provide opportunities in which students can develop a sense of collegiality, experience mentoring, and are given structure related to their goals, assignments, and feedback. From this research, various transition courses were created to enhance enrollment, to build community, to increase communication, and to help graduate students gain socialization into the field (Tokuno, 2008). Several of these strategies hint at the importance of building relationships while in graduate school; whether these

relationships are with advisors, faculty, staff, or peers, they are crucial to a graduate student's health and success.

Advisors play a fundamental role in a graduate student's experience. Hyun et al. (2006) suggested that graduate students' relationships with academic advisors can be a significant source of support and stress. Advisors need to understand how to balance challenge with support in order for graduate students to develop and to grow most successfully. Researchers have found that if this balance is achieved, the relationship between a graduate student and advisor can contribute positively to a graduate student's mental health. The University of Michigan created a handbook for faculty and graduate student advisors entitled *How to Mentor Graduate Students:* A Guide for Faculty at a Diverse University. The information for this handbook was retrieved from graduate student testimonies (Polson, 2003). And in a time when the graduate student population continues to become more diverse and nontraditional, advisors will need to reconsider their past efforts in mentoring graduate students.

There are several ways in which faculty members influence the graduate student experience. Faculty members have the responsibility to effectively communicate with students. Communication between faculty and students is pivotal to the success of graduate students in a program (Hamaideh, 2011). Providing structure throughout a program can also be beneficial for graduate students. Lack of structure can sometimes lead to graduate student stress and dissatisfaction. Researchers Boyle and Boice (1998) specifically suggested incorporating short-term goals, structured assignments, and timely feedback into the curriculum and class structure. Graduate students have also indicated that faculty supported is especially appreciated in the form of advice for how to navigate the graduate student experience. For graduate students teaching for the first time, which can cause high levels of stress, it is recommended that faculty provide

guidance and assistance through that transition (Lawson & Fuehrer, 2001). Researchers suggest that faculty and advisors host "happy hours," a more casual setting than the typical "office hours," to help in achieving the above suggestions. This could also help graduate students interact with faculty and advisors with whom they may not be necessarily assigned.

Social integration with peers is also important to graduate student mental health. Social support plays a vital role in a student's ability to cope with stressors and other mental health struggles. In fact, Lawson and Fuehrer (2001) shared research that indicates increased social support is related to an increased level of satisfaction with the graduate school experience. Peer support can be a very influential factor in graduate student success. Mattanah and colleagues (2010) revealed through their study that peer-led social support groups helped first-year students to develop meaningful connections with a small group of peers, which helped during the transition to college. Although, these groups were designed for undergraduate students, it has been discussed and determined that graduate students often undergo similar experiences as their undergraduate peers (Green, 2013; Rosenblatt & Christensen, 1993). The group intervention ultimately reduced feelings of loneliness and caused students to feel more socially connected. It can be argued that these same effects could occur in a social support group of graduate students, in which new graduate students would be paired with older graduate student peer facilitators. A similar program exists at the University of Maryland, with the exception that this program is linked to their College Student Development graduate program's orientation. A unique component is a buddy system in which a current student is assigned a "buddy" with a prospective student. This can be a great way to create an initial social connection and have an avenue of support for a first year graduate student (Taub & Komives, 1998).

By enhancing graduate students' relationships with their advisors, faculty, and peers, institutions may see an increase in graduate student satisfaction and health. Implementing programs and efforts that help to accomplish the goal of increasing the quality of these relationships should be at the forefront of graduate program departments and institutions as a whole. The support that would be gained from these relationships would certainly help to alleviate mental health concerns among graduate students. Several researchers shared that adequate and appropriate socialization will improve self-worth, decrease stigma, create a more successful transition, and decrease stress (Eisenburg et al., 2009; Longfield et al., 2006; Myers et al., 2012; Tokuno, 2008).

Positive Psychology

Positive psychology is defined as the study of optimal human functioning. The goals of positive psychology are to discover and to encourage the factors of life that allow individuals to thrive. The focus of positive psychology is on sources of psychological health, as opposed to disease and disorder (Sheldon, Frederickson, Rathunde, Csikszentmihalyi, & Haidt, 2000). The hope is that individuals can proactively build up the qualities that help them be successful and to cope with stress, instead of learning to survive only after stress or mental health struggles surface.

Researchers have studied the effect positive psychology has on the growth and development of students. Chickering and colleagues (2005) attested to the importance of fostering meaning and purpose within the college experience. By abiding by positive psychology strategies and efforts, students can experience emotional wellness, vitality, and meaningfulness. Additional research revealed that optimism and other positive emotions promote positive self-perceptions, awareness of personal limitations, and acceptance of personal responsibility for

altering controllable situations (Scheier, Weintraub, & Carver, 1986). This research provides evidence that happiness can positively contribute to the development and growth of students. Ways in which students can utilize these tactics and improve their health and well-being include committing acts of kindness and gratitude, creating goals related to personal health, participating in service opportunities, and promoting and engaging in social connections (Mather, 2010). Mather (2010) also provided perspective into how student affairs professionals can incorporate components of positive psychology into practice. By nurturing positive emotions and focusing on possibilities instead of problems, students can feel empowered to focus on their strengths rather than their weaknesses. One strategy that was influenced by the advances in positive psychology is known as mindfulness.

Mindfulness can be described as engaging in behaviors aimed at increasing presentmoment awareness, acceptance, and engagement. It is a self-care practice that has been shown to
reduce emotional distress and promote positive well-being (as cited in Myers et al., 2012). A
specific program that has been developed to help teach mindfulness is called Mindfulness Based
Stress Reduction (MBSR). The program has been used with counseling psychology students and
appears to be effective in reducing stress, negative affect, anxiety, and rumination (Shapiro,
Brown, & Biegel, 2007). This approach can lead to increases in positive affect and selfcompassion. For graduate students, these results could be crucial to a student's ability to persist
through difficult moments during the graduate school experience. Overall, the participants in one
study experienced improvements in their mental health (Shapiro et al., 2007). It is proposed that
higher education institutions investigate the effects mindfulness has on students, and consider the
benefits it could provide a campus.

The research clearly indicates several benefits of role modeling and encouraging the foundations of positive psychology. If an individual can alter his or her mindset to focus on the positive emotions and ability to combat stress and challenge, graduate students could potentially be able to better cope with mental health struggles while enduring the challenges associated with graduate school. It is strongly encouraged that higher education institutions examine the benefits of incorporating strategies and programs that reflect the foundations of positive psychology, such as mindfulness sessions, into their curricula or departments on campus. One aspect of positive psychology that deserves additional attention is the importance of self-care.

Self-Care

Practicing self-care should begin at an early age, and if it does, it can potentially help individuals feel more prepared to cope with stress and anxiety. Myers and fellow researchers (2012) discussed the implications of self-care practice on a graduate student's health and experience. Partaking in and prioritizing sleep, exercise, social support, emotional regulation strategies, and mindfulness practice can help alleviate some of the mental health concerns with which graduate students are struggling. Paying attention to the value of holistic wellness is very important for the graduate student population, because all of the areas of a student's life are interconnected (Myers, Sweeney, & Witmer, 2000). If a student is struggling in one aspect of his or her life, there is a strong likelihood that it will affect other aspects as well.

In order to help increase graduate students' self-care practices, it is advised that interventions that incorporate time and stress management be emphasized (Hamaideh, 2011; Wyatt & Oswalt, 2013). Having these capabilities will ultimately allow for students to prioritize their own health and care. By promoting a healthy lifestyle to all students, and integrating these strategies into academic and the institutional goals, institutions can effectively address pertinent

mental health concerns (Wyatt & Oswalt, 2013). Hamaideh (2011) suggested that university administrators focus on workshops that address the common stressors experienced by graduate students. The promotion of self-care practices can be implemented as a preventative model, with the hopes of preparing graduate students for their future careers (Myers et al., 2012). Arizona State University has implemented a program called POWER, which stands for professional opportunities for wellness education and revitalization. This program includes peer mentoring opportunities, workshops, and social activities that promote self-care behaviors. This program can be used as a foundation to create training programs at institutions across the country (Dittmann, 2005). These programs and strategies can be especially helpful when graduate students are transitioning.

Understanding the importance of self-care especially during times of transition is crucial. This is the point at which self-care is going to be most in jeopardy. Forney and Davis (2002) shared information about transition sessions that help graduate students increase communication skills, empathy building, improving coping strategies, instill a sense of collegiality, and improve self-reflection. These sessions can be preventative measures for graduate students at risk of experiencing high stress and perhaps symptoms of mental health illness. Some graduate students seem to be lacking the fundamental skills and abilities to handle stress, potential that they have but are not using. Implementing programs such as this can be fundamental to the efforts in decreasing graduate student mental health problems. Western Illinois University and University of California-Irvine both have implemented programs that reflect some of the above suggestions.

Western Illinois University offers students in their student affairs graduate program the opportunity to participate in a transition course. The course curriculum includes topics such as transitioning, theories, goal-setting, group dynamics, and reflection. There is also an opportunity

to discuss any concerns that group members have as they navigate the transition process. Some of the learning outcomes of the course include improving coping strategies, communication, understanding, and empathy (Forney & Davis, 2002). University of California-Irvine (UCI) has a program entitled Graduate First Year Initiative (GFYI), which is designed to support the academic and co-curricular experiences of first-year graduate students at UCI. Specifics of the program include assistance in finding on-campus housing, orientation to campus, workshops on various topics, a mentoring program, and specialized programs for target populations, such as international students, graduate students with partners, and students with families (Tokuno, 2008). These programs should be duplicated and implemented at other institutions. It is recommended that if higher education institutions do design such programs or workshops that they should think critically about providing a variety of topics. The graduate student population is very diverse and they have a lot of differing needs. Making these programs optional, but highly encouraged, and personalized will be very important (Poock, 2004).

Graduate Student Support Services

As a graduate student who encountered a variety of challenges with the graduate student transition, including mental health struggles, it is a passion and priority of mine to raise awareness and to hopefully encourage higher education professionals to make a change.

Graduate students are vital to the success of higher education institutions. They are in need of support, guidance, and service. The perspective from which this report was created is from that of a student affairs graduate student. When considering other areas of academia, it is probable that mental health concerns in such fields are even more intense and real. Higher education administrators are concerned about retention and funding, yet it appears that retaining a vital population may not be a focus. The next suggestion to be presented combines several areas of

research with personal experience, and it involves creating an office devoted to graduate student support.

The inference made from personal experience and hearing the perspectives of other graduate students at a variety of institutions is that many graduate students are not prepared for what the graduate school experience holds. There is nobody to blame for this, but there are improvements that need to be made. This section will include suggestions of how an office devoted to graduate student support services can help enhance the graduate student experience and potentially improve the mental health of graduate students. The first recommendation is relevant to students for the timeframe shortly after they decided to enroll in a program through graduation.

Before graduate students even arrive on campus, it is suggested that there is outreach from the institution, similar to the way undergraduate students are supported before even stepping foot on a college campus. This could be accomplished in a variety of ways. One idea includes having a graduate student retreat, in which graduate students can choose to come to campus early and cover some of the topics that were discussed in the above sections. Some of the most prevalent subjects to discuss before graduate students arrive to campus include: what to expect with transition, resources for graduate students, graduate student events, reflection, goal-setting, and coping strategies. Because there are logistics with this strategy that may be difficult to coordinate, for example graduate students travel from around the world to attend graduate school, this retreat may not be feasible. Providing the option to listen to these sessions online before arriving to campus is one solution. Another recommendation to help support graduate students before they arrive to campus involves coordinating a mentorship program. Several researchers have promoted this concept and revealed the health benefits of graduate students

having a support system at the institution (Boyle & Boice, 1998; Lawson & Fuehrer, 2001; Taub & Komives, 1998; Tokuno, 2008). Graduate students would be contacted by a member of the graduate student support services staff to enroll in a mentorship program. Kansas State University provides a mentorship program to first-year undergraduate students, called Guide to Personal Success (GPS). The program matches Kansas State faculty, staff, graduate students, and alumni volunteers with first-year undergraduate students. The mentors serve as a resource to help the student transition and gain professional advice and guidance (Guide to Personal Success, 2013). A mentoring program for first-year graduate students could resemble one such as GPS.

When graduate students arrive to campus, a quality orientation program needs to be provided to help with transition. The research emphasized the importance and opportunity orientation programs have in supporting graduate students (Boyle & Boice, 1998; Forney & Davis, 2002; Poock, 2004; Rimmer et al., 1982; Taub & Komives, 1998; Tokuno, 2008). In fact, Boyle and Boice (1998) focused on institutions that model the best practices for enculturating graduate students, and every institution referenced had a structured orientation. Several topics that were covered in the potential retreat could also be referenced at an orientation. It is highly desirable to have both an overall graduate student orientation as well as individual departmental orientations. In order for these to be well attended, it is crucial that they are accommodating and inclusive to graduate student needs. They also need to be advertised well and through several avenues, such as phone calls, physical mail, and e-mail correspondence. Poock (2004) suggested a variety of subjects to include in an orientation such as involving and inviting families, discussing finances, sharing resources and services, and being open about some of the transitional difficulties graduate students may face. It is essential to address the fact that each student will have a different experience, but normalizing the fact that several graduate students

may encounter difficulties, even mental health obstacles, can be very important in encouraging help-seeking behaviors.

There are several suggestions for best supporting graduate students while they are in the graduate program. It would be advised that at least one mental health counselor be employed by the counseling center or graduate student support services to specifically work with graduate students. It is such a unique population that it would be most beneficial to have a specialized health coordinator, as suggested by Soet and Sevig (2006). Another suggestion would include a graduate student support group that would begin at the start of each semester to hopefully aid in alleviating transitional struggles or to empower the development of essential life skills. Sadly, several college campus crises have involved graduate students. In a time when resources and funding are decreasing, it can be difficult to provide more programs. However, investing in this service would be a proactive approach that could result in saved lives and fewer crises. While in the program, graduate students could expect to receive updates about events and opportunities coordinated by the graduate student support services staff or partnering professionals. This office would coordinate closely with graduate program department heads, a graduate student council if it exists, and various graduate student organizations.

The graduate student support services office would collaborate with graduate student advisors. Helping to prepare and educate advisors is a logistical component of graduate student success that is often overlooked. Advisors should be skilled in addressing graduate student needs and understanding how to balance challenge with support in order to keep the best interest of the student in mind. Faculty and staff are often the primary people with whom a graduate student is in contact. Because of this, they need to understand how to communicate with graduate students and to be vulnerable and open to discussing the full graduate student experience. At the very

least, faculty and staff need to be knowledgeable enough about campus and community services to refer a student. This may not be a strength of all faculty and staff nor may it be their interest, but regardless, it is a skill that should be developed when working with the graduate student population. Among all eighteen to twenty-four year olds who commit suicide, one in five occurs on the same day as an acute life crisis, and one in four occurs within two week of a crisis. This means that nearly half of suicides occur on the same day or within two weeks of a life crisis (Silverman, 2008). This number speaks volumes to the importance of being observant and willing to reach out to students; it could make a significant difference in someone's life.

As graduate students reach graduation, it is important to acknowledge the accomplishments that were made. Involving the support networks of graduate students in these celebrations should also be a consideration. The graduate student support services office would also help graduate students navigate the next transition whether that is for more formal education or a professional career. Providing direction and support should happen throughout the entirety of a graduate student's experience.

The final responsibility of the graduate student support services office would be to assess the graduate student experience at the higher education institution. The faculty, staff, and administrators of a university should understand the needs of their graduate student population. There should also be an understanding of the perception of mental health on any given college campus. The results of this research should provoke the institution to consider changes that will help improve the graduate student experience. It is essential that upper level administrators know the reality of mental health issues on the campuses for which they make executive decisions. Several institutions have already developed graduate student services, and those institutions should be applauded. It is with high hopes that other institutions begin to recognize the need for

such an office and program. If these support services are implemented, institutions may see an increase in graduate student satisfaction, health, and retention.

Conclusion

This report has provided readers with a realistic view into the graduate student experience, specifically as it relates to graduate student mental health. There are professionals and institutions across the country that are doing all that they can to support this diverse and vulnerable student population. Hyun et al. (2006) suggested that institutions prioritize examining mental health issues on campus, but also share strategies that are effective with other institutions. Researchers advise that mental health resources be safeguarded for students, especially in a time when funding and resources are limited. With all that said, there are clearly improvements that can continue to be made. Graduate students need to spend time building the life skills that are going to allow them to cope with stress and other mental health issues. Higher education institutions need to provide more quality support services for graduate students. And as a society, the stigma associated with mental health and the decrease in mental health insurance coverage needs to be minimized. It is likely that the combination of these strategies will result in increases in graduate student health and satisfaction.

Tokuno (2008) recommended steps for institutions to take based on a generous amount of research he conducted. Among these steps are gaining the support of key players, researching the needs of each institution's students, communicating often and effectively, and creating a sense of community of each campus. Achieving these goals is a collaborative effort. Providing adequate support and services for the graduate student population is a cause that is well worth the reward: healthy, satisfied, retained students.

References

- American College Health Association. (2009). American college health association-national college health assessment: reference group data report (abridged), Spring 2008. *Journal of American College Health*, 57, 477-488.
- Alexander, J. (2005). The graduate student transition: Experiences of an overlooked population.

 Unpublished master's thesis, University of South Carolina, Columbia S.C.
- Andrews, B. & Wilding, J. M. (2004). The relation of depression and anxiety to life-stress and achievement in students. *British Journal of Psychology*, *95*, 509-521.
- Barkin, K. (n.d.). *Glossary of mental health/mental illness terminology*. Retrieved on April 5, 2014, from: http://www.mentalhealthconnection.org/pdfs/glossary.pdf
- Benton, S. A., Benton, S. L., Newton, F. B., Benton, K. L., & Roberston, J. M. (2004). Changes in client problems: Contributions and limitations from a 13-year study. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 35(3), 317-319.
- Boyle, P. & Boice, B. (1998). Best practices for enculturation: Collegiality, mentoring, and structure. In M. Anderson (Ed.), *The experience of being in graduate school: An exploration*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Chickering, A. W., Dalton, J., & Stamm, L. (2005). Encouraging authenticity and spirituality in higher education. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Chickering, A. W. & Reisser, L. (1993). *Education and identity* (2nd ed.). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Conrad, C. F., Duren, K. M., & Haworth, J. G. (1998). Students' perspectives on their master's degree experiences: Disturbing the conventional wisdom. *New Directions for Higher Education*, 101, 65-76.

- Corrigan, P. (2004). How stigma interferes with mental health care. *American Psychologist*, 59 (7), 614-625.
- Crocker, J., Sommers, S. R., Luhtanen, R. K. (2002). Hopes dashed and dreams fulfilled:

 Contingencies of self-worth and graduate school admissions. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 1275-1286.
- Dahlin, M., Joneborg, N., & Runeson, B. (2005). Stress and depression among medical students:

 A cross-sectional study. *Medical Education*, 260, 2521-2528.
- Dittman, M. (2005). *Arizona State students create self-care program*. Retrieved on April 1, 2014 from http://www.apa.org/gradpsych/2005/03/cover-selfcare.aspx
- Eisenberg, D., Golberstein, E., & Gollust, S. E.. (2007). Help-seeking and access to mental health care in a university student population. *Med Care*, 45, 594-601.
- Eisenberg, D., Golberstein, E., & Hunt, J.B. (2009). Mental health and academic success in college. *The B.E. Journal of Economic Analysis and Policy*, 9 (1), 1-35.
- Eisenberg, D., Downs, M. F., Golberstein, E., & Zivin, K. (2009). Stigma and help seeking for mental health among college students. *Medical Care Research and Review*, 66(5), 522-541.
- Erikson, E.H. (1959). *Identity and the life cycle*. New York: Norton.
- Evans, N. J., Forney, D. S., Guido, F. M., Patton, L. D., & Renn, K. A. (2010). *Student development in college: Theory, research, and practice*. (2nd ed.). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Forney, D. S. & Davis, T. L. (2002). Ongoing transition sessions for student affairs master's students. *Journal of College Student Development*, 43(2), 288-293.
- Fox, J. (2008). The troubled student and campus violence: New approaches. The Chronicle of

- Higher Education. Retrieved from: http://www.hbc-slba.com/LMG/Chronicle111408.pdf
- Gallagher, R. P. (2011). *National Survey of Counseling Directors*. Retrieved on March 23, 2014, from: http://www.iacsinc.org/2011%20NSCCD.pdf
- Gilardi, S. & Guglielmetti, C. (2011). University life of non-traditional students: Engagement styles and impact on attrition. *Journal of Higher Education*, 82 (1), 33-53.
- Golde, C. (2005). The role of the department and discipline in doctoral student attrition: Lessons from four departments. *Journal of Higher Education*, 76(6).
- Goodman, J., Schlossberg, N. K, & Anderson, M. L. (2006). *Counseling adults in transition* (3rd ed.). New York: Springer.
- Guide to Personal Success. (2013). Kansas State University. Retrieved on March 22, 2014, from http://www.k-state.edu/gps/
- Green, M. J. (2013). Transitioning into, through, and out of graduate school: A theoretical model. *The Canadian Journal of Career Development*, 12 (1), 49-57.
- Hall, D.T. (1996). The career is dead: Long live the career. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Hamaideh, S.H. (2011). Stressors and reactions to stressors among university students. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, *57*(1), 69-80.
- Hermon. D. A. & Hazler, R. J. (1999). Adherence to a wellness model and perceptions of psychological well-being. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 77, 339-343.
- Holland, J. L. (1997). *Making vocational choices: A theory of vocational personalities and work* (3rd ed.). Odessa, FLL: Psychological Assessment Research.
- Hunt, J. & Eisenberg, D. (2010). Mental health problems and help-seeking behavior among college students. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 46 (1), 3-10.
- Hyun, J.K., Quinn, B.C., Madon, T., & Lustig, S. (2006). Graduate student mental health: Needs

- assessment and utilization of counseling services. *Journal of College Student Development*, 47(3), 247-266).
- Kent, J. (2013). Study finds completion rates in STEM master's programs are rising, but trail those of MBA programs. Council of Graduate Schools. Retrieved on April 1, 2014, from: http://www.cgsnet.org/sites/default/files/Masters_Completion_and_Attrition_Study_Find ings_press_release_final.pdf
- Kernan, W., Bogart, J., & Wheat, M.E. (2011). Health-related barriers to learning among graduate students. *Health Education Journal*, 111(5), 425-445.
- Kessler, R. C., Foster, C. L, Saunders, W. B., & Stang, P. E. (1995). Social consequences of psychiatric disorders, I: Educational attainment. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 152(7), 1026-032.
- Lawson, T. J.. & Fuehrer, A. (2001). The role of social support in moderating the stress that first-year graduate students experience. *Journal of Education*, 110(2), 186-193.
- Lazarus, R. S. & Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, appraisal, and coping. New York: Springer-Verlag.
- Longfield, A., Romas, & J. Irwin, J. D. (2006). The self-worth, physical, and social activities of graduate students: A qualitative study. *College Student Journal*, 40 (2), 282-292.
- Mattanah, J. F., Ayers, J. F., Brand, B. L., Brooks, L. J., Quimby, J. L., & McNary, S. W. (2010). A social support intervention to ease the college transition: Exploring main effects and moderators. *Journal of College Student Development*, 51(1), 93-108.
- Mather, P.C. (2010). Positive psychology and student affairs practice: A framework of possibility. *Journal of Student Affairs Research and Practice*, 47 (2), 157-173.
- Mazzola, J. J., Jackson, E. M., Shockley, K. M., & Spector, P. E. (2011). Examining stress in

- graduate assistants: Combining open- and closed-ended survey methods. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 5(3), 198-211.
- Mojtabai, R. (2007). Americans' attitudes toward mental health treatment seeking: 1990-2003. *Psychiatric Services*, *58* (*5*), 642-651.
- Myers, S. B., Sweeney, A. C., Popick, V., Wesley, K., Bordfeld, A., & Fingerhut, R. (2012). Self-care practices and perceived stress levels among psychology graduate students.

 *Training and Education in Professional Psychology, 6(1), 55-66.
- Myers, J. E., Sweeney, T. J., Witmer, M. J. (2000). The wheel of wellness counseling for wellness: A holistic model for treatment planning. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 78 (3), 251-267.
- Offerman, M. (2011). Profile of nontraditional doctoral degree student. *New Directions for Adult* and Continuing Education, 129, 21-30.
- Oswalt, S.B. & Riddock, C.C. (2007). What to do about being overwhelmed: Graduate students, stress, and university services. *College Student Affairs Journal*, 27 (1), 24-44.
- Polson, C. J. (2003). Adult graduate students challenge institutions to change. *New Directions for Student Services*, 102, 59-68.
- Poock, M. C. (2004). Graduate student orientation practices: Results from a national survey. NASPA Journal, 41 (3), 470-486.
- Poock, M. C., & Love, P. (2001). Factors influencing the program choice of doctoral students in higher education administration. *NASPA Journal*, 38(2), 203-223
- Rimmer, S. M., Lammert, M., & McClain, P. (1982). An assessment of graduate student needs. *College Student Journal*, 16, 187-192.
- Rosenblatt, H. S., & Christensen, C. (1993). Welcome to the whole family: A graduate student

- orientation. College Student Journal, 27 (4), 502-505.
- Ruthig, J. C., Marrone, S., Hladkyj, S., & Robinson-Epp, N. (2011). Changes in college student health: Implications for college student health. *Journal of College Student Development*, 52 (3), 307-320.
- Sanford, N. (1966). *Self and society: Social change and individual development*. New York: Atherton Press.
- Scheier, M. R., Weintraub, J. K., & Carver, C. S. (1986). Coping with stress: Divergent strategies of optimists and pessimists. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *51*, 1257-1264.
- Schlossberg, N. K. (1981). A model for analyzing human adaptation to transition. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 9 (2), 2-18.
- Schlossberg, N. K. (1989). Marginality and mattering: Key issues in building community. *New Directions for Student Services* (48), 5-15.
- Schulte, F. S., Mongrain, M., & Flora, D. B. (2008). Healthy and unhealthy dependence: Implications for major depression. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 47 (3), 341-353.
- Shapiro, S. L., Brown, K. W., & Biegel, G. M. (2007). Teaching self-care to caregivers: Effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction on the mental health of therapists in training.

 *Training and Education in Professional Psychology, 1, 105-115.
- Sheldon, K., Frederickson, B., Rathunde, K., Csikszentmihalyi, M., & Haidt, J. (2000). *Positive psychology manifesto*. University of Pennsylvania. Retrieved on March 20, 2014, from http://www.ppc.sas.upenn.edu/akumalmanifesto.htm
- Silverman, M. M., Meyer, P. M., Sloane, F., Raffel, M., & Pratt, D. M. (1997). The big ten

- student suicide study: A 10-year study of suicides on Midwestern university campuses. Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior, 27 (3), 285-303.
- Silverman, M. (2008). *Turning violence inward: Understanding and preventing campus*suicide. Paper presented at the conference on Violence on Campus: Prediction,

 Prevention and Response, Columbia University Law School, New York. Retrieved on

 March 12, 2014, from
 - $http://www2.law.columbia.edu/jfagan/conference/docs/Silverman_CLS_Present at ion.ppt.$
- Soet, J. & Sevig, T. (2006). Mental health issues facing a diverse sample of college students:

 Results from the college student mental health survey. *NASPA Journal*, *43* (3), 410-431.
- Taub, D. J. & Komives, S. K. (1998). A comprehensive graduate orientation program: Practicing what we preach. *Journal of College Student Development*, *39*, 394-398.
- Tokuno, K. A. (Ed.). (2008). *Graduate students in transition: Assisting students through the first*year (Monograph No. 50). Columbia, SC: University of South Carolina, National

 Resource Center for The First-Year Experience and Students in Transition.
- University of Colorado. (2012). Gunman enrolled in 2011. Retrieved on April 1, 2014, from: http://www.ucdenver.edu/academics/colleges/medicalschool/administration/news/Pages/Gunman-Was-CU-Graduate-Student-.aspx
- U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. (2011). *Earned Degrees Conferred*, 1869-70 through 1964-65; *Projections of Education Statistics to 2020*; Higher Education General Information Survey (HEGIS), "Degrees and Other Formal Awards Conferred" surveys, 1965-66 through 1985-86; Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System (IPEDS), "Completions Survey" (IPEDS-C:87-99); and IPEDS

- Fall 2000 through Fall 2010, Completions component. Retrieved on March 28, 2014 from: http://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d11/tables/dt11_283.asp?referrer=report
- U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. (n.d.). *Definitions and Data*. Retrieved from: http://nces.ed.gov/pubs/web/97578e.asp
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (n.d.). *What is Mental Health*. Retrieved April 5, 2014 from: http://www.mentalhealth.gov/basics/what-is-mental-health/index.html
- Weiss Roberts, L., Warner, T. D., Lyketsos, C., Frank, E., Ganzini, L, & Carter, D. (2001).

 Perceptions of academic vulnerability associated with personal illness: A study of 1,027 students at nine medical schools. *Journal of the American Psychopathological Association*, 42 (1), 1-15.
- Wyatt, T. & Oswalt, S. B. (2013). Comparing mental health issues among undergraduate and graduate students. *American Journal of Health Education*, 44, 96-107.